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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you.

          3  Pleasant good morning to everyone. We're going to

          4  get started here. Unfortunately, our hearing has a

          5  severe conflict with some budget briefings that are

          6  going on this morning, but we want to get as much

          7  testimony in as possible. I want to thank you for

          8  joining me this morning for a hearing on the

          9  Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services

         10  where today we'll be learning about the

         11  Administration plans for modernizing the Fire Code.

         12                 We'll be considering four

         13  introductions, Intro 311, Intro 247, Intro 248 and

         14  Intro 249. We'll be voting on an unrelated

         15  resolution, Resolution 262.

         16                 Our Committee has held numerous

         17  hearings highlighting the outdated nature of the

         18  Fire Code. We've heard this, that the Administration

         19  has announced its intention to overhaul the code.

         20  We're extremely thrilled that the Administration has

         21  agreed with the Council on the importance of this

         22  matter, and today we'll hear details of the Fire

         23  Department's plans.

         24                 At the same time as we're working

         25  towards completing the overhaul of the Fire Code,
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          2  it's important to continue to update sections in

          3  need of revision. As a result, today we'll be

          4  considering three technical amendments to the Fire

          5  Code which were proposed by the Mayor. The first

          6  being Intro 247, which relates to mechanical

          7  refrigeration. Intro 248 regulating hazardous

          8  materials, and Intro 249 which will be dealing with

          9  overcrowding.

         10                 In addition, we'll be considering

         11  Intro 311. This is a matter that was brought to our

         12  attention by one of the members of the Council. It

         13  would require the FDNY provide a same type of notice

         14  prior to removing an EMS battalion as it does prior

         15  to the closing of fire houses.

         16                 The public should have some advanced

         17  notice before major changes to ambulance services

         18  and we want to look at the best way of accomplishing

         19  that.

         20                 Finally, we'll be discussing

         21  Resolution 262 which calls upon the State to

         22  properly and fairly fund probation. We've been quite

         23  concerned based on prior testimony about these

         24  severe under funding that the State has provided for

         25  our probationary services here in the City of New

                                                            5

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  York. New York City receives far less money for

          3  probation than other counties, so we want to urge

          4  the State to really look at the work load that we

          5  have here in the City of New York and fairly fund

          6  our probationary services.

          7                 I'm joined here today by staff right

          8  now, and that is Michele Kalafer, Russell Unger and

          9  Mike Schnall (phonetic), all capable and very able

         10  folks who help me to keep things in order here.

         11                 Having said that, we're going to

         12  start our testimony now from the Fire Department,

         13  Jerry Gumbo -- Gombo, excuse me.  And also we'll be

         14  hearing from John Peruggia.

         15                 Thank you, gentlemen. Would you just,

         16  for our record, state your name and your position

         17  and affiliation for the record.

         18                 MR. GOMBO: My name is Jerry Gombo.

         19  I'm the Assistant Chief of EMS Operations for the

         20  Fire Department of New York City.

         21                 MR. PERUGGIA: Good morning. John

         22  Peruggia, Deputy Assistant Chief, Operations

         23  Planning and Strategy for the Fire Department.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you

         25  gentlemen, and good morning.
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          2                 MR. GOMBO: Good morning, Chairperson

          3  Clarke, Council Members. I am Jerry Gombo, Assistant

          4  Chief of Emergency Medical Services Operations of

          5  the New York City Fire Department.

          6                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          7  speak with you today about Intro 311, which seeks to

          8  amend the City Charters public notice requirements

          9  relating to the removal or relocation of FDNY

         10  Emergency Service Battalions.

         11                 EMS Operations is acutely aware that

         12  New York City residents have a common concern about

         13  the availability of ambulances in their

         14  neighborhoods and the level of care these ambulances

         15  can provide.

         16                 However, I do not believe that this

         17  legislation, how ever well intended, will accomplish

         18  its stated goal of protecting the health and safety

         19  of these communities or addressing their concerns

         20  about the delivery of this service.

         21                 FDNY EMS operates 550 ambulance tours

         22  each day over a 24-hour period. An ambulance tour is

         23  an eight-hour operational period during which an

         24  ambulance is staffed and in service for assignment.

         25  During the day tour alone, FDNY EMS fields 209
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          2  ambulances from its 30 battalion stations throughout

          3  the City. This number does not even include non-FDNY

          4  voluntary hospital 911 ambulance participants that

          5  are part of the City's overall EMS ambulance

          6  deployment system.

          7                 The entire system of EMS units is

          8  deployed to cross street locations as part of what

          9  we refer to as the deployment matrix. This system is

         10  set up to retain deployment flexibility. EMS makes

         11  adjustments to the matrix to address a constantly

         12  changing environment, increases or decreases in

         13  response times, population or call volume, or

         14  introduction of new hospital-based ambulance tours.

         15  When changes are necessary, the Department issues an

         16  EMS Operations Order that is distributed throughout

         17  the EMS system. On average, EMS makes such matrix

         18  revisions once to twice a month, sometimes as many

         19  as 20 times a year.

         20                 As I said, these matrix revisions are

         21  prompted by numerous constantly changing external

         22  factors. If a hospital wants to operate more

         23  ambulances, a deployment analysis is performed of

         24  that hospital's authorized area of operation and in

         25  some situations, we may move an existing FDNY EMS
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          2  ambulance to another area more in need of an

          3  ambulance than the original area it served. Because

          4  FDNY EMS crews are authorized to operate in all five

          5  boroughs, our FDNY ambulances are more flexible in

          6  responding to changes City-wide.

          7                 The decision making that goes into

          8  the deployment matrix changes is comprehensive and

          9  is based on a continuing evaluation of the needs of

         10  the City's communities. FDNY EMS constantly monitors

         11  response times. Our management and planning analysts

         12  reviews the ambulance response times, call volume

         13  and traffic conditions. Our Operations Staff review

         14  the data generated by the analysts and decide if

         15  changing conditions merit a revision to the matrix

         16  deployment.

         17                 EMS coordinates the City's entire 911

         18  system. We would never do anything to jeopardize the

         19  integrity of that system. We examine the needs of

         20  each area and the available resources. We need to do

         21  what's prudent for the system and we take a five-

         22  borough view of the City's needs.

         23                 I believe that the proposed

         24  legislation is misguided for a couple of reasons.

         25  First, there is really no such thing in FDNY EMS
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          2  parlance as emergency medical service battalion as

          3  the legislation designates. The station from which

          4  our ambulances are deployed and where they are

          5  restocked and cleaned among other things are called

          6  battalions. There are 30 such battalions in the five

          7  boroughs. Some of these battalions have five or six

          8  ambulances stationed at them. Some have as many as

          9  15.

         10                 Second, while we move or redeploy

         11  individual ambulances from their assigned street

         12  corner locations, sometimes as often as 20 times a

         13  year, EMS would have no need to move EMS battalions

         14  to respond to changes in communities needs or

         15  changes in demographics, call volume or response

         16  times. Even if a battalion did move, the ambulances

         17  within its coverage area would still be assigned to

         18  the same street corner locations where they were

         19  before a move of the battalion was made.

         20                 The proposed legislation could

         21  negatively impact the health care of our citizens if

         22  the dynamism and flexibility of the ambulance

         23  deployment system is compromised in anyway. EMS has

         24  been able to adapt quickly and may be adversely

         25  affected if it cannot do so to address some pressing
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          2  need. Thank you for allowing us the time to speak to

          3  you today.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

          5  you for your testimony. I think it gives us a fuller

          6  picture than the public is really aware of. I think

          7  what precipitated this particular piece of

          8  legislation was a comfort level that a particular

          9  community had with knowing that there was a

         10  particular EMS unit stationed at a particular corner

         11  within their community and apparently had noticed

         12  that it had to be moved for whatever reason. But I

         13  want to ask. Do you agree with the principle behind

         14  311? Namely, that the public should have some

         15  advance notice before major changes to the provision

         16  of ambulance service?

         17                 MR. GOMBO: The notice isn't the issue

         18  that we are opposed to. It was the time factor

         19  associated with that notification process.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: In your opinion,

         21  is this an issue that has come up before one, but

         22  beyond that, how would you go about, I guess,

         23  notifying a particular community or area if in fact

         24  there were to be a change in the location of an EMS

         25  unit within their community? Would you go through a
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          2  community board or what would you say would be the

          3  best way of really accomplishing that?

          4                 MR. GOMBO: As I mentioned, timing is

          5  really everything, and there are sometimes the need

          6  to do dynamic changes and to commit to notification

          7  through one means I think would hamper that practice

          8  that we've had. We do a lot of research and analysis

          9  before cross-street locations are made.

         10                 Currently, as I mentioned in my

         11  testimony, we do an operations order informing all

         12  ambulance deployments of any types of changes

         13  throughout the system.

         14                 I would be open minded as to how you,

         15  how the Council would suggest we best make that

         16  notification without hampering the Department's

         17  flexibility in doing that in a timely fashion.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What you

         19  described to me is essentially an internal type of

         20  notification process. May I suggest to you that

         21  perhaps at the point of which you sort of determine

         22  that this needs to be done, you may want to reach

         23  out to the community board in which that unit is

         24  located and perhaps even a Council Member of that

         25  particular area. I think that certainly may suffice.
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          2  Because this probably arose from the fact that

          3  constituents that reached out to a Member, and that

          4  Member was not clear on the strategies behind why

          5  that had to be done. People simply observe this and

          6  believe that they become more vulnerable of not

          7  understanding the entire matrix that you described.

          8  That it doesn't necessarily put them at risk of not

          9  having service in that area.

         10                 Some other similarly related

         11  occurrences took place that I think may shed some

         12  light or understanding for the Committee on exactly

         13  how the matrix procedure actually operates. We

         14  understand that basically battalions, as we have

         15  stated them, are never eliminated or relocated. But

         16  there was a change that occurred in ambulance

         17  service in the Fort Totten and Flushing area where

         18  apparently, there used to be numerous units at a

         19  battalion and now they've been reduced to simply

         20  one. Could you give us a sense of what took place

         21  there?

         22                 MR. GOMBO: As I mentioned earlier,

         23  one of the things that we constantly do is review

         24  the system, as far as matrix and area response times

         25  where ambulances are deployed and covered.
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          2                 On occasion, we do get requests from

          3  hospitals throughout the City to either increase

          4  their current ambulance participation or to come on

          5  and provide that service. Once we review that

          6  request and make sure that all the regs are

          7  addressed, we'll look at where it is that they can

          8  be deployed to.

          9                 For example, if we have an area that

         10  is going to enhance their ambulance resources

         11  through a 911 participant, what we would then do is

         12  make a decision based on an analysis as to where we

         13  might be able to redeploy a Fire Department resource

         14  to make the overall City coverage all that much more

         15  equal throughout the five boroughs.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Would you be able

         17  to tell us approximately how many ambulances were

         18  removed from the Fort Totten and Flushing

         19  battalions?

         20                 MR. PERUGGIA: Over a period of the

         21  last several years, when we first opened up the EMS

         22  battalion --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Just one moment.

         24  Could you just say who you are?

         25                 MR. PERUGGIA: John Peruggia, Deputy
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          2  Assistant Chief from Planning Strategy.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay.

          4                 MR. PERUGGIA: When the Fire

          5  Department initially opened up the EMS battalion in

          6  that community, Battalion 52 on Main Street, we had

          7  the position of four ambulances in that station. You

          8  are correct in stating that today, we currently

          9  continue to operate one ambulance from that. Over

         10  the past several years, the hospitals which

         11  participate in the 911 system have given additional

         12  ambulances resources to this City to function within

         13  a 911 system. So we took some of the units that

         14  covered those communities and moved them to other

         15  communities where we felt there was a need for

         16  enhanced ambulance service.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Was that scenario

         18  the same -- that was in the Flushing?

         19                 MR. PERUGGIA: That's correct. That

         20  was in Flushing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Right. And

         22  similar occurrence in the Fort Totten area?

         23                 MR. PERUGGIA: Fort Totten we opened

         24  at three units and now again, also down to one unit.

         25  The number of units which covered that community has

                                                            15

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  not been reduced. Their service hasn't been reduced.

          3  The performance that the community has, has not

          4  suffered in any way. It's just a mix of who the

          5  ambulances is being provided by, whether it be Fire

          6  Department ambulance or a hospital-based participant

          7  covering that community.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Are there any

          9  suggestions that either of you have for any type of

         10  change to ambulance service? Perhaps, instead of a

         11  battalion elimination or removal, the suggestion

         12  that I had about perhaps contacting the community

         13  board and the Council Members, that's something that

         14  you see as being doable?

         15                 MR. GOMBO: I think we can do that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: What type of

         17  change would you say; would it be just sort of the

         18  redeployment of the units from a particular

         19  battalion? What would you suggest would rise to the

         20  occasion of something that a community board and a

         21  Council Member should be notified of?

         22                 MR. PERUGGIA: I would think if a

         23  community is going to be affected, whereas an

         24  ambulance resource is being removed from that

         25  community, because of changing call volume and we
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          2  don't need it, that might be something where we

          3  warrant the community to be advised. But if it's a

          4  situation where an ambulance is being replaced by a

          5  different ambulance or someone's cross-street is

          6  being changed slightly in that community where the

          7  overall coverage of that community is not being

          8  affected, I don't believe a notification would

          9  necessarily be in order.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, I want to

         11  thank both of you gentlemen very much. This has been

         12  very educational and your answers have really shed a

         13  light on this concern that has been raised through

         14  this legislation. Thank you both very much.

         15                 MR. GOMBO: Thank you.

         16                 MR. PERUGGIA: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: We will now hear

         18  testimony with respect to Introductions 247, 248 and

         19  249. These will be addressing some amendments to our

         20  Fire Code. Intro 247 being the changes in regulation

         21  of mechanical, refrigeration. Intro 248 being some

         22  adjustments or amendments to regulation of hazardous

         23  materials. And Intro 249 addressing the concerns

         24  around overcrowding. We are joined for testimony

         25  today by Julian Bazel of the New York City Fire

                                                            17

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  Department, James Hansen of the New York City Fire

          3  Department, and James A. Jackson of the New York

          4  City Fire Department.

          5                 Welcome and good morning, gentlemen.

          6  Just state your name and affiliation for the record

          7  prior to giving your testimony. Thank you.

          8                 MR. JACKSON: Good morning. James A.

          9  Jackson, Assistant Chief of New York City Fire

         10  Department and Chief of Fire Prevention.

         11                 MR. BAZEL: Julian Bazel, Counsel to

         12  the Department in New York City Fire Department.

         13                 MR. HANSEN: James Hansen, Director of

         14  Code Revision, Fire Department.

         15                 MR. JACKSON: Good morning,

         16  Chairperson Clarke and Council Members. Thank you

         17  for the opportunity to speak with you today about a

         18  very important topic, the New York City Fire

         19  Prevention Code also known as the Fire Code. I will

         20  briefly discuss three pieces of legislation being

         21  considered by this Committee relating to the Fire

         22  Code.

         23                 As you know from previous hearings,

         24  the Fire Department has been ramping up its efforts

         25  to tackle a very complex and complicated job of
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          2  revising the Fire Code. We are here today to update

          3  the Committee as to those revision efforts, the most

          4  significant updating of the regulatory standards

          5  since the City's Fire Code was first adopted in

          6  1913. We would like to thank Council Member Clarke

          7  and this Committee for focusing on this important

          8  topic and supporting the Department's efforts to

          9  move forward with the Fire Code revision efforts.

         10                 Over the past several months, the

         11  FDNY established a special unit within the Bureau of

         12  Legal Affairs whose sole responsibility is Fire Code

         13  revision and rule drafting.

         14                 As of the time of the Mayor's

         15  Preliminary Budget, we learned that the Department

         16  has been allocated $347,000 for two Fire Chiefs, two

         17  attorneys, and two engineers who will coordinate our

         18  present and future code revision efforts.

         19  Recruitment for the new staff is now underway,

         20  though officially this effort cannot commence until

         21  the start of the fiscal year, July 1st.

         22                 One of our initial decisions and

         23  possibly one of the most important is whether to

         24  adopt one of the two national model codes or to

         25  independently revise the existing code.
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          2                 As you may know, the Mayor's Advisory

          3  Commission on revising the New York City Building

          4  Code, recommended the adoption of the International

          5  Building Code, the IBC, and related model codes of

          6  the International Codes Council, the ICC.

          7                 The Mayor's Advisory Commission

          8  decided that the Building Code revision process

          9  would not encompass the adoption of the

         10  International Fire Code or the revision of the New

         11  York City Fire Code. However, the IBC and the IFC

         12  are overlapping and intensively cross- referenced.

         13  And the Building Code revision process necessarily

         14  entails consideration of Fire Code requirements.

         15                 The Building Code revision,

         16  therefore, seems to require a parallel process to

         17  address the New York City Fire Code. Logic appears

         18  to compel the selection of the IFC and it is the

         19  FDNY's intention to proceed with the adoption of the

         20  IFC, as amended for New York City and for a number

         21  of reasons.

         22                 First, a key advantage of the IBC

         23  over the other model code, the National Fire

         24  Protection Association's (NFPA) 5000 Code, is that

         25  the IBC has been adopted by numerous U.S.
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          2  Jurisdictions, both large and small. The recently

          3  developed NFPA 5000 model code, on the other hand,

          4  has been adopted by just a few.

          5                 Forty- four states and localities

          6  have adopted the IBC and 31 states and localities

          7  have adopted the IFC. Most importantly, in 2002, New

          8  York State adopted both the IBC and the IFC with

          9  modifications. The ICC publishes these state codes

         10  with notations indicating the individual state

         11  amendments to the  model code language. This greatly

         12  facilitates ease of access by out- of- state

         13  developers and design professionals to the code

         14  requirements of a particular state.

         15                 Although, New York City is empowered

         16  to adopt its own codes, the State has the authority

         17  to override local codes that are not as stringent as

         18  the State codes. Adoption of a code other than the

         19  IFC could potentially raise a host of issues as to

         20  whether the provisions are as strict as State law.

         21                 Second, the City is moving towards

         22  the adoption of the IBC. Adoption of a code other

         23  than the IFC would greatly complicate the code

         24  revision process by imposing an additional task of

         25  integrating the two codes to ensure that no safety
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          2  provisions and cross- references have been

          3  overlooked.

          4                 Third, adoption of a model code other

          5  than the IFC or independently drafting a new code

          6  would significantly lessen the advantage of adopting

          7  a model code. One of the benefits of adopting a

          8  model code is its uniformity. Professionals from

          9  other jurisdictions would be familiar with the model

         10  code and bring their business and skills into the

         11  jurisdications.

         12                 Fourth, to undertake a lengthy

         13  analysis of two model codes based on their content,

         14  would unduly delay the code revision process which

         15  needs to proceed quickly to catch up with the

         16  Building Code revision process.

         17                 The FDNY plans to structure the Fire

         18  Code revision process such that interested and

         19  concerned parties will have the opportunity to

         20  express their opinions and comments in a manner that

         21  will ensure proper consideration and evaluation. To

         22  this end, we recommend the establishment of a

         23  committee structure consisting of a) several

         24  Technical Committees; b) an Advisory Committee; c) a

         25  Managing Committee; and d) an Executive Committee.
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          2  Our Code Revision Unit would provide administrative

          3  support and coordinate the work of these committees.

          4                 Technical Committee. Each Technical

          5  Committee would consist of an FDNY uniformed,

          6  engineering and legal personnel. Each Committee

          7  would review one subject area and for each section,

          8  approve the model code language or draft a proposed

          9  New York City amendment. The proposed amendments

         10  would then be submitted to the Managing Committee

         11  for review and approval and then forwarded to the

         12  Advisory Committee.

         13                 At this time, we propose to have

         14  Technical Committees address subject areas that

         15  include, among others: Administration and

         16  Enforcement, Emergency Planning, Hazardous

         17  Materials, Hazardous Operations and Occupancies and

         18  Fire Safety Precautions.

         19                 Advisory Committee. The Advisory

         20  Committee will consist of representatives of the

         21  engineering and architecture professions, real

         22  estate and building management interests,

         23  manufacturers and labor organizations and, as such,

         24  will be the source of outside viewpoints and

         25  comments on the proposed code amendments.
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          2                 The organization of the Advisory

          3  Committee will mirror the Technical Committee's

          4  subject areas. Selection of the Advisory Committee

          5  members will need to be addressed. But the goal is

          6  to be as inclusive as possible so that a broad

          7  spectrum of opinion can be obtained.

          8                 Managing Committee. The Managing

          9  Committee would consist of the Technical Committee

         10  Chairs, Senior FDNY staff and representatives of the

         11  City Council and Department of Buildings. The

         12  Management Committee would, among other things,

         13  provide direction and guidance to the Technical and

         14  Advisory Committees.

         15                 Executive Committee. The Executive

         16  Committee would have the final say on proposed Fire

         17  Code revision and implementing legislation. It would

         18  consist of the Fire Commissioner, the Chief of

         19  Department, the Deputy Commissioner for Legal

         20  Affairs and any other FDNY executive staff or

         21  outside representatives selected by the Fire

         22  Commissioner. The Executive Committee would be

         23  responsible for briefing the Mayor and any other

         24  high- level consultations that may be required.

         25                 Schedule for Completion. We
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          2  anticipate that a new Fire Code can be drafted

          3  within 12 to 18 months. The actual length of time

          4  the project will require will depend on the extent

          5  to which we find the model code needs to be amended

          6  and whether any intractable disputes arise. It also

          7  depends on how quickly we can hire to fill the six

          8  positions in the newly created Fire Code revision

          9  unit.

         10                 We believe that revising the Fire

         11  Code makes sense and that the reasons for doing so

         12  are now persuasive. The IBC is being adopted and

         13  adapted in New York City. Ever- changing technology

         14  makes it an necessity. And 9/11 has altered our

         15  thinking forever about the many vulnerabilities of

         16  our City's high- rise buildings. We believe that the

         17  process outlined above will enable the Fire

         18  Department, despite limited resources and a limited

         19  time frame, to successfully undertake and complete a

         20  Fire Code revision process.

         21                 Proposed Legislation. Our efforts to

         22  undertake comprehensive code revision does not mean

         23  that we should postpone correcting deficiencies in

         24  the existing New York City Fire Code that require

         25  immediate attention. Enacting legislation to correct
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          2  such deficiencies will actually facilitate the code

          3  revision process by eliminating plainly outdated

          4  provisions and allowing us to focus on real policy

          5  issues. Therefore, the FDNY has, as promised,

          6  introduced three important pieces of legislation

          7  that are before this Committee today.

          8                 The first, Intro 247, relates to

          9  mechanical refrigeration. The current Fire Code

         10  requirements for governing the installation, testing

         11  and operation of mechanical refrigerating systems

         12  are outdated or effectively have been superseded.

         13  The proposal local law would eliminate the outdated

         14  and duplicative requirements for refrigerating

         15  system installation and testing and make appropriate

         16  conforming changes to the operating requirements.

         17  Prior to the 1999 Federal Clean Air Act amendments,

         18  the refrigerating industry predominantly used Freon

         19  refrigerants, which are non- toxic and non-

         20  flammable.

         21                 The federally mandated phase- out of

         22  the production of Freon refrigerants and the annual

         23  incremental federal tax on the sale of Freon are

         24  reducing the use of Freon refrigerants and resulting

         25  in a greater use of alternative refrigerants.
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          2  Several of which are toxic or moderately flammable.

          3  The use of such refrigerants heightens the need for

          4  the proper supervision of refrigerating systems by a

          5  qualified operating engineer. The proposed local law

          6  clarifies the existing operating requirements and

          7  addresses the use of these new types of

          8  refrigerants, thereby, enabling property owners to

          9  switch to alternative refrigerants while protecting

         10  public safety. The legislation we propose is

         11  supported by the refrigeration industry.

         12                 Another piece of Fire Code

         13  legislation, Intro 248, relates to combustible and

         14  flammable mixtures. The proposed local law would

         15  eliminate provisions of the code that refer to

         16  outdated products and materials or that have been

         17  preempted or rendered obsolete by federal

         18  regulations or industry standards. It would also

         19  address the concerns and recommendations of the U.S.

         20  Chemical Safety and Hazard Investigation Board in

         21  their April 25, 2002 report on the explosion at the

         22  Kaltech facility on West 19th Street in Manhattan.

         23  The Board recommended separation of incompatible

         24  materials, identification of container contents and

         25  assuring worker knowledge of the hazardous nature of
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          2  the mixtures with which they work. Such changes will

          3  be beneficial to the orderly regulation of flammable

          4  and combustible materials, as well as to the

          5  individuals and businesses affected by such

          6  regulations.

          7                 We also support Intro 249, which

          8  addresses an important omission in the Fire Code

          9  with respect to overcrowding. The current law is

         10  ambiguous. It does not contain a definition of

         11  overcrowding. So clarifying this would aid

         12  enforcement.

         13                 We thank you for allowing us the time

         14  to speak with you today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I want to thank

         16  you as well. Your presentation has been quite

         17  thorough, as a matter of fact. And we can certainly

         18  appreciate that. It's exciting to know that we are

         19  embarking on modernizing the Fire Code. Believe it

         20  or not, it's something that I've become quite fond

         21  of.

         22                 I want to ask a bit about the

         23  Committee structure that you outlined. You talked

         24  about, first of all, establishing a unit within the

         25  FDNY that would be dedicated specifically to Fire
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          2  Code revision and manning that up so they can start

          3  beginning the new fiscal year.

          4                 You also talked about a Committee

          5  structure and I wanted to get a sense of what that

          6  is comprised of. Is it expertise outside of the

          7  Department? How many people we're talking about?

          8  Have we begun to identify individuals who sit on the

          9  various committees? Is this similar to the type of

         10  structure that was established for the oversight of

         11  the Building Code revision?

         12                 MR. JACKSON: As far as the Committee

         13  structure is concerned, the Technical Committees,

         14  who will actually do the work of analyzing the model

         15  code and determining whether it can be accepted in

         16  its form or amended, will be staffed by uniformed

         17  chiefs and engineering people from Borough Fire

         18  Prevention and other people with appropriate

         19  expertise; chemical labs, explosives, alarms and

         20  suppression.

         21                 In addition, because of the existence

         22  of the Advisory Committee who will receive copies of

         23  the proposed drafts, we will have input from

         24  industry reps and real estate and people from the

         25  trades as to what we've proposed and perhaps be able
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          2  to fine-tune our recommendations in the draft code

          3  in that manner.

          4                 The Managing Committee, which will

          5  oversee the work of the Technical Committees, will

          6  evaluate all work that's done by the Technical

          7  Committees, can advise them on what they might feel

          8  would be needed additionally to changes or things to

          9  be additionally considered and would also be able to

         10  get back to them the recommendations of the Advisory

         11  Committee and for additional work to be done in

         12  specific areas.

         13                 The Advisory Committees, like I said,

         14  would be made up of people from outside the

         15  Department who represent various interests. At this

         16  time, I don't believe that we've started the work of

         17  selecting those members yet. But we have started to

         18  reach out to people within the Department to staff

         19  the various committees that will do the actual

         20  technical work.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Do you have a

         22  sense of how many people you will have involved in

         23  the complete committee structure? I guess, again, is

         24  it similar to what was established for the Building

         25  Code revision?
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          2                 MR. HANSEN: Yes. The structure is

          3  parallel to the Building Code process. They also

          4  have Technical Committees. They have a Managing

          5  Committee and an Executive Committee. The only

          6  difference is that we just felt that given the time

          7  frame that we have to operate in and also the fact

          8  that I think many of the organizations that are

          9  active in code matters are very much involved the

         10  Building Code process and are not really probably

         11  available to put the level and intensity of effort

         12  on this effort in this particular project. And also

         13  because some of the areas that we're dealing with

         14  are much more specialized. They're not simply

         15  generic construction issues. But they are very

         16  technical depending various kinds of hazardous

         17  materials that only certain people or certain

         18  industries have really the knowledge and expertise

         19  and interest in those areas.

         20                 For all of those reasons, we decided

         21  that it wasn't going to be productive to attempt to

         22  recruit people to sit and draft all this. Instead,

         23  we felt that it would be more effective and

         24  productive and would achieve the same thing to have

         25  the actual drafting being done primarily, I say
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          2  primarily, by Fire Department personnel, both

          3  engineering, uniformed and some legal staff. But

          4  also we will very much integrate this Advisory

          5  Committee. We really don't perceive this as

          6  necessarily just going to be some people we call up

          7  from time to time, we're going to recruit people who

          8  are interested in this area, ask them to identify

          9  those areas, especially that they want to personally

         10  be involved in. And in those sections where the

         11  industries have the technical expertise, it's our

         12  expectation that they will actually, individually

         13  and informally, sit in and provide appropriate

         14  guidance, attend the subcommittee meetings or

         15  whatever to bring them in to the extent necessary to

         16  enable us to benefit from their expertise.

         17                 In terms of expecting industry to

         18  show up on a regular basis and start reading each

         19  section and amending it, we just felt that that

         20  wasn't realistic and it was going to take too long

         21  and that requires a tremendous -- I'm sure you're

         22  aware that the Department of Buildings, this is just

         23  a major, major time-consuming effort in terms of the

         24  coordination of all these -- they have dozens,

         25  dozens of outside people going to meetings, it
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          2  really is a very labor-intensive process. I think

          3  we're trying to do something that will bring in the

          4  outside expertise and certainly will afford them the

          5  opportunity to review everything and comment on it

          6  and really to be involved to the extent that they

          7  are willing to be involved with it.

          8                 We thought that it be, given the

          9  somewhat narrow focus and more technical nature of

         10  the Fire Code, we thought it would probably work

         11  better for the committees to primarily be internal

         12  Fire Department personnel. But the overall structure

         13  is similar to the Building Code and we, again, are

         14  going to invite Council and Department of Buildings

         15  to also participate at the appropriate level.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: We just want to

         17  caution that to the extent we can make sure that

         18  industry sort of has their finger on the pulse of

         19  this that prevents time consumption in the end, in

         20  the sense that they then want to comment after

         21  you've done your work, it may call for more time.

         22  But it sounds to me that you really thought this

         23  through and based on the time line that I heard

         24  here, we're looking at perhaps something being in

         25  place by no later than the year 2006. You said
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          2  something about a 12- to 18-month window and I'm

          3  assuming that would begin around the beginning of

          4  our fiscal year, so that's almost like half a year

          5  here already, you'll be starting sometime in the

          6  second half of 2004?

          7                 MR. HANSEN: We hope to get this up

          8  and running in the next couple of months. Get the

          9  committees formed and give them some guidance and

         10  hopefully our staff will start around July 1. From

         11  that point, move forward. As Chief Jackson explained

         12  in his testimony, I mean the amount of time that's

         13  going to take adopt the code is a little uncertain

         14  at this point because we really have to start

         15  delving in and see the extent to which an amendment

         16  is needed. I mean, many sections of the Fire Code

         17  are very outdated and this may be so with superior

         18  in many respects that we don't need a lot of

         19  changes.

         20                 On the other hand, New York City is a

         21  unique environment and we do want to maintain or

         22  enhance the levels of protection above the generic

         23  International Fire Code. I think it's a little

         24  uncertain, that's why we left a little lead way in

         25  there.
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          2                 Our hope is that we can have a

          3  product ready by the fall of 2005 for legislative

          4  action. Obviously, one of the things I was

          5  mentioning to your staff earlier is that there is a

          6  lot -- aside from just working on the Fire Code in

          7  of itself, there are a lot of coordination issues

          8  that have to be worked out with the Building Code.

          9  Actually, the more we look at it, the more it looks

         10  like that could take up a tremendous amount of time

         11  because there's a lot of overlap between the two

         12  codes intentionally. That's the way the

         13  International Codes Council wrote their codes,

         14  because in different jurisdictions the Building

         15  Inspector enforces it, and other jurisdictions the

         16  Fire Department enforces it. There is a lot of

         17  things that have to be weeded out that should be one

         18  or the other. Plus, there is a lot of

         19  cross-references back and forth. If the Building

         20  Code is amended, we have to look at the impact on

         21  the Fire Code and vice versa.

         22                 There are a lot of technical issues

         23  to address. But we are hoping to be able to do this

         24  expeditiously. That's why we set it up the way we

         25  did. We're certainly very sensitive to the desire to
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          2  resolve any disputes before it comes to the Council.

          3  Obviously, we don't want to expend all this effort

          4  and in the end have it bogged down on disputes among

          5  various interests, so we're aware of that.

          6                 MR. JACKSON: In addition, we also

          7  have to mindful of our position to the State that

          8  we're at least as stringent as what the State has

          9  adopted in the State Fire Code. So that's another

         10  cross-reference that's required by the Technical

         11  Committees to examine the State Code in the process

         12  of amending the Fire Code.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I just want to

         14  get a sense again of your timetable in terms of

         15  beginning to get, I guess, a head start on this. Is

         16  it that you are currently waiting for the new fiscal

         17  year to get started on this process or have you

         18  already begun internally establishing the unit and

         19  getting them acclimated?

         20                 MR. JACKSON: Internally, we've

         21  already started. The Fire Code Revision Unit has

         22  been established, although, it is not fully staffed.

         23  As the Technical Committees, although they've been

         24  established in name, we are beginning the staffing

         25  now. We have a time line to follow to get our
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          2  committees in place and we're within the guidelines

          3  of that time line now. So, we hope as the time line

          4  indicates that we will actually kick off the code

          5  revision process on July 1. So, we have this month

          6  of May to assemble our committees and name the

          7  Chairpersons and during the month of June, we will

          8  be able to assemble the needed materials and issue

          9  guidance to all the committee members as to how the

         10  Technical Committees will operate.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: So, you already

         12  have your internal FDNY staff identified or you're

         13  trying to --

         14                 MR. BAZEL: Well, some postings are

         15  going to be around shortly. But we have the skeleton

         16  staff that we're setting up with, they're already

         17  working on the issues. They're beginning to

         18  identify, for example, which committee should

         19  address which chapters of the codes and so forth and

         20  hopefully in an expedited basis we'll be able to

         21  hire the staff, but we're moving forward internally

         22  as I said.

         23                 The building process is moving

         24  forward and we've been talking to them. There is

         25  just a lot of things all happening simultaneously. I
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          2  think we're gearing up at this point. I think what

          3  the goal being that when everything, when we've

          4  selected the committee people and the people from

          5  outside and we'll have everything ready to go and

          6  hand out to them and give them the direction and the

          7  mandate to move forward.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: It sounds to me

          9  that you're not anticipating any fiscal or financial

         10  obstacles in this process; am I correct in what I'm

         11  hearing?

         12                 MR. BAZEL: I hope not. No one has

         13  raised any yet. But anything is possible.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Just wanted to

         15  get a sense of, we noticed in your testimony, you

         16  spoke about the City Council's participation. I

         17  wondered whether you've thought that through as of

         18  yet?  Would you be approaching the Council in terms

         19  of recommendations of personnel, in terms of the

         20  technical expertise or what have you?  What area or

         21  realm do you see the Council being active?

         22                 MR. BAZEL: Well, I know in the IBC,

         23  Madeline Provenzano personally, and/or through her

         24  staff, are involved in the Managing Committee and we

         25  were actually thinking of doing something similar
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          2  here to have yourself and/or your staff or other

          3  representatives participate in the Managing

          4  Committee. I didn't really expect that you would be

          5  able to devote the time to get involved in any

          6  Technical Committees, but I think the Managing

          7  Committee is a little bit of the main, sort of

          8  overview or manager of the process in the sense of

          9  seeing what's coming up from the Technical

         10  Committees, reviewing it and sending things over to

         11  the Advisory Committee, getting the comments from

         12  the Advisory Committee, reviewing them, sending them

         13  back down to the Technical Committee. It's sort of

         14  the key player in terms of and sort of the overview.

         15  Not necessarily, not rewriting the sections, but

         16  looking at how they're rewritten, what the policy

         17  issues that they're presented by those amendments,

         18  talking to the Advisory Committee and communicating

         19  back and forth with the Advisory Committee in terms

         20  of industry's concerns or particular problems that

         21  that might raise or maybe even try and sort out some

         22  issues, resolve some of those issues. So, we were

         23  assuming that would be the appropriate level to

         24  which the Council would be involved.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Well, gentlemen,
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          2  this has been great news. We wish you well in

          3  getting this underway. We look forward to working

          4  with you as we move to modernize the Fire Code. I

          5  want to thank you for your testimony here this

          6  morning. Thank you.

          7                 MR. JACKSON: Thank you.

          8                 MR. BAZEL: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: We are at a point

         10  in our hearing today where we're going to just have

         11  to sort of recess and lay over this matter. As I

         12  stated at the opening, we have a severe conflict

         13  with some of the matters that are taking place with

         14  respect to the Council and the release of the

         15  Executive Budget today. I call this hearing

         16  recessed.

         17                 (Meeting recessed at 11:05 a.m.)
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